




HAMPDEN TOWN COUNCIL RULES 

Introduction & Statement of Purpose - Public Service, even at the local level, 
can be challenging. As elected officials’ sphere of influence and relationship with 
citizens ebbs and flows according to issues and policy topics, it is sometimes 
challenging for said officials to be even-handed and broad minded in the sense of 
the whole community. This is why government service at all levels is guided by 
core values and ethical standards. In keeping with that idea, the following defines 
the way in which Hampden elected officials shall approach the matters that come 
before them: (Added 2/1/2016) 

A Simple Three Way Test 
Is it the truth? 

Is it fair to all concerned? 
Will it be beneficial for the Town? 

The Hampden Councilor… 
Will not act out of spite, bias, or favoritism 

Will contribute to a climate of mutual trust and respect 
Has the courage of his/her convictions 

Never forgets that he/she is working for the people – all of the people 
Will understand and demonstrate the elements of teams and teamwork 

Will clearly define roles and relationships 
Will establish and abide by a Council-staff partnership 

And will allocate Council time and energy appropriately. 

1. The Town Council shall only act by ordinance, order, or resolve.  All
ordinances, orders, and resolves shall be confined to one subject, which
shall be clearly expressed in the title.  All orders and resolves shall be
dated, numbered, and signed by the Town Clerk and the Town Councilors
will receive a copy. No action of the Council shall be binding or valid
unless adopted by the majority vote of those present. (Amended 9/19/2016)

2. In all motions of command, the form of expression shall be ‘ordered’ and
in all motions concerning principles, facts, or purposes, the form shall be
‘resolved’.

3. The name of the Council member or other person, persons, or group
requesting an item on the agenda will be indicated on the agenda with the
said item.

4. As a matter of courtesy, conduct for all Council and Committee meetings
shall be as follows:
a. Cell phones shall be silenced during Council & Committee meetings by

Town Councilors, staff, and the general public.
b. Councilors and staff shall refrain from texting or emailing during all

Council or Committee meetings.

Item 3



c. Cell phone use, texting, and email may be done during breaks in 
regular or special Council meetings or committee meetings. 

5. Town Councilors shall participate in Freedom of Access Act training within 
120 days of being sworn in as a Town Councilor and documentation of 
that training shall be filed with the Town Clerk. 

6. Town Councilors shall participate in Elected Officials training offered by 
the Maine Municipal Association within the first year of office.  If a 
Councilor is unable to complete this training within the first year, the 
deadline may be extended upon petition by the Councilor and assent of a 
majority of the Council. (Amended 2/1/2016) 

7. A New Councilor orientation packet shall be provided to all Councilors at 
the time they are sworn in.  

8. The Mayor shall take the chair at the appointed time for the meeting, call 
the members to order, and proceed to the following order of business: 
(Amended 1/21/2014; 4/7/2014; 5/19/14) 

A. Pledge of Allegiance 
B. Consent Agenda 

1. Signatures – Treasurer’s Warrants, etc 
2. Secretary’s Report 
3. Communications 
4. Reports 

C. Public Comments 
D. Policy Agenda 

1. News, Presentations & Awards 
2. Public Hearings 
3. Nominations-Appointments – Elections 
4. Unfinished Business 
5. New Business 

E. Committee Reports 
F. Manager’s Report 
G. Councilor Comments 
H. Adjournment 

9. In the absence of the Mayor, the Deputy Mayor shall preside over the 
Town Council meeting. In the absence of the Deputy Mayor, the Mayor 
shall appoint, in advance, another Councilor to chair the meeting. (Amended 
9/19/2016) 

10. When a question is under debate, the only motions that the Mayor shall 
entertain will be a motion to adjourn, or a motion to lay on the table the 
previous question, or to postpone the previous question to a day certain, 
or to refer the previous question to a committee or some administrative 
official or to amend, or a motion to postpone the previous question 
indefinitely. Motions shall have precedence in order in which they are 
introduced. (Amended 9/19/2016) 

11. When a vote is passed, it shall be in order for any member who voted in 
the majority, or in the negative on a tie vote, to move a reconsideration 
thereof at the same, or the next stated meeting, but not afterwards; and 



when a motion of reconsideration is decided, that vote shall not be 
reconsidered. 

12. When any member is about to speak, they shall respectfully address the 
Mayor, confine themselves to the question under debate, and avoid 
personalities. No member speaking shall be interrupted by another but by 
a call to order, or to correct a mistake. 

13. Every member present, when a question is put, shall give their vote, 
unless the Council, for special reasons, shall excuse them.  Application to 
be so excused must be made before debate on the issue and the decision 
on the application shall be made by a majority vote of the council without 
debate. 

14. The rules cannot be dispensed with or suspended if one or more members 
of the council shall object. No rule or order shall be amended or repealed 
without notice, in writing, being given at the preceding meeting. 

15. Any person wishing to address the Town Council will be given the 
opportunity to do so in accordance with the following procedure: 
a. Persons wishing to address the Council on an item which appears on 

the agenda shall wait until the Mayor announces the consideration of 
such item, at which time they may address the Council on that 
particular item.  There shall be a five minute limit on such comments 
per person, per item. In the event that a large number of persons wish 
to speak on an issue, this limit may be changed to insure that all who 
wish to speak have the opportunity to do so. Once public comment on 
an item has closed and a motion and second has been made by 
members of the Town Council, further public comment is only allowed 
if approved by a unanimous vote of the Town Council. 

b. Any person wishing to address the Council on an item not appearing 
on the agenda shall be allowed to do so only in that section of the 
agenda referred to as “Public Comments”. There shall be a five minute 
limit on such comments per person per subject raised. Items heard 
during Public Comment may be agendaed for a subsequent meeting or 
referred to a Committee or staff member for discussion/action. No 
votes may be taken by the Council on a subject raised during Public 
Comment without a vote by the Council to set aside the rules and add 
it to the regular agenda for consideration. 

c. Any person wishing to address the Council shall signify their desire by 
raising their hand and, when recognized by the Mayor, such person 
shall thereupon request permission to address the Council, giving their 
name and the name of the road on which they live and then 
designating the subject matter on which they desire to address the 
Council. (Amended 2/1/2016) 

16. At the commencement of the Calendar year, or as soon thereafter as 
possible, there shall be chosen the following Committees, each 
Committee to consist of three (3) or four (4) members of the Council as 
the Mayor may designate, or, upon a motion, the Council may ballot. 
(Amended 2/1/2016) 



a. Finance & Administration – The purpose of this Committee shall be to 
review all items related to their fiscal impact on the Town as well as all 
matters that pertain to items of administrative procedures. This 
committee will also have the responsibility for the review and 
signature of all payment warrants. (Amended 9/19/2016) 

b. Services Committee – The purpose of this Committee shall be to 
review all matters related to services provided by the Town related to 
recreation, parks, trails, the library, the pool, communications and 
other items related to non-emergency or public works services 
provided in the community. (Amended 2/1/2016, 9/19/2016) 

c. Infrastructure – The purpose of this Committee shall be to review all 
matters pertaining to public infrastructure including buildings, roads, 
and all town capital equipment. 

d. Planning & Development – The purpose of this Committee shall be to 
review all matters related to all ordinances of the Town and all 
proposals for economic & community development. 

17.   Committee procedure shall be governed as follows: 
a. All Committees will be required to post an agenda at least 48 hours 

prior to the meeting and no issue may be voted on unless it is 
agendaed.  

b. It shall be the responsibility of the Committee Chair to discuss the 
development of the meeting agenda with the assigned staff person at 
least 24 hours before the meeting is required to be posted.  

c. The assigned staff member shall prepare and post the agenda. 
d. Draft minutes of each meeting will be prepared by the staff member 

supporting the committee within three business days.  
e. Committee meeting minutes shall be posted on the Town website 

following their voted approval by the Committee. 
f. Non-committee Council members attending a Committee meeting will 

have voting rights if they have been present for the entire discussion of 
an issue, providing that at least two of the three appointed members of 
the committee are present. 

g. Two appointed members of the Committee shall constitute a quorum. 
h. The Mayor shall serve as a member of all Committees for quorum 

purposes. (Amended 2/1/2016) 
18. The Mayor may appoint members of the Council and/or citizens of the 

Town to special committees as authorized by the Council. (Amended 2/1/2016) 
19.  In all cases where the parliamentary proceedings are not determined by 

the foregoing rules and orders, “Roberts Rules of Order” shall be taken as 
authority to decide the course of proceedings. 

20. The first and third Mondays of each month are designated as ‘regular’ 
Council meetings with the provision that a unanimous vote of the 
Councilors present would cancel or reschedule a meeting. Whenever a 
regular meeting falls on a legal holiday, such meeting will take place the 
following day except upon unanimous vote of the Councilors present to 
cancel or reschedule the meeting. (Amended 9/19/2016) 



21. Special meetings of the Town Council may be scheduled for other dates 
for special purposes. The agendas for such meetings shall be posted at 
the Post Office, Town Office, Town Bulletin Board, on the Town website, 
no less than 72 hours in advance of the meeting (unless an emergency 
meeting is needed for the purpose of dealing with an unanticipated Town 
emergency, in which case posting shall be to all normal posting locations 
and via email to local print media as soon as it is identified that a meeting 
will be held). The agenda for a Special Meeting shall be prepared as 
follows; 

A. Call to order 
B. Subject(s) for meeting 
C. Adjourn 

The general public shall be allowed to comment on subjects at Special 
meetings in the same manner as for Regular Council meetings. There 
shall be no general Public Comment section for items not contained on the 
agenda for Special Council meetings. 

22. Any item on the consent agenda can be set aside for discussion at the 
request of any Councilor, prior to a motion on the remainder of the 
consent agenda. 

23. Council Meetings shall not extend beyond 10 p.m. without an affirmative 
vote of the Town Council. 

24. The Councilor Comment section of the agenda is reserved for the purpose 
of enabling any Council member to discuss matters not previously 
mentioned on the agenda. No official Council action can be taken at this 
time. 

25. Sanctions – Council members who intentionally and repeatedly do not 
follow council rules may be reprimanded or formally censured by the 
Council. Serious infractions of Council Rules could lead to other sanctions 
as deemed appropriate by the Town Council. (Added 2/1/2016) 

 
This policy replaces the Council Rules last updated February 1, 2016. 

 
 
Adopted by Town Council:  May 21, 2012 
 
Amended: January 21, 2014 
  April 7, 2014 
  May 19, 2014 
  February 1, 2016 
  September 19, 2016 



HAMPDEN TOWN COUNCIL RULES OF PROCEDURE 
 
 

1 
 

Introduction & Statement of Purpose - Public Service, even at the local level, 
can be challenging. As elected officials’ sphere of influence and relationship with 
citizens ebbs and flows according to issues and policy topics, it is sometimes 
challenging for said officials to be even-handed and broad minded in the sense of 
the whole community. This is why government service at all levels is guided by 
core values and ethical standards. In keeping with that idea, the following defines 
the way in which Hampden elected officials shall approach the matters that come 
before them:  
 

A Simple Three-Way Test 
Is it the truth? 

Is it fair to all concerned? 
Will it be beneficial for the Town? 

 
The Hampden Councilor… 

Will not act out of spite, bias, or favoritism 
Will contribute to a climate of mutual trust and respect 

Has the courage of his/her convictions 
Never forgets that he/she is working for the people – all of the people 

Will understand and demonstrate the elements of teams and teamwork 
Will clearly define roles and relationships 

Will establish and abide by a Council-staff partnership 
And will allocate Council time and energy appropriately. 

 
ARTICLE 1 Mayor/Deputy Mayor 
 

1. At the commencement of the Calendar year, and pursuant to Section 204 
of the Town Charter, the town’s attorney shall preside over the town 
council’s election of one of its members as Mayor for the ensuing year. 
The Mayor shall preside over all meetings of the Council at which he or 
she is present.  
 

2. After the election of the Mayor, he or she shall preside over the election of 
Deputy Mayor. The Deputy Mayor shall serve as the presiding officer at 
any meeting at which the Mayor is absent and shall assume all duties of 
the Mayor until the Mayor is present. In the absence of the Deputy Mayor, 
the Mayor shall appoint, in advance, another Councilor to chair the 
meeting. 
 

3. The Mayor shall recognize any Councilor who wishes to speak, shall state 
all motions that are before the assembly, rule on questions of 
parliamentary procedure and carry out all duties incumbent upon him 
under the laws of the State, the Town Charter, Town Ordinances, and the 
Rules of Procedure. 
 



HAMPDEN TOWN COUNCIL RULES OF PROCEDURE 
 
 

2 
 

4. The Mayor shall take the chair at the appointed time for the meeting, call 
the members to order, and proceed with the order of business. 

 
ARTICLE 2 Council 
 
1. The Town Council shall only act by ordinance, order, or resolve.  All 

ordinances, orders, and resolves shall be confined to one subject, which 
shall be clearly expressed in the title.  All orders and resolves shall be 
dated, numbered, and signed by the Town Clerk and the Town Councilors 
will receive a copy. No action of the Council shall be binding or valid 
unless adopted by the majority vote of those present.  
 

2. In all motions of command, the form of expression shall be ‘ordered’ and 
in all motions concerning principles, facts, or purposes, the form shall be 
‘resolved’. 
 

3. Town Councilors shall, pursuant to 1 MRSA § 412, participate in Freedom 
of Access Act training through the Maine Municipal Association’s Elected 
Officials Course within 120 days of being sworn in as a Town Councilor. 
Documentation of that training shall be filed with the Town Clerk. 
 

4. A New Councilor orientation packet shall be provided to all Councilors at 
the time they are sworn in.  

 
ARTICLE 3 Agenda 
 
1. The Town Council meetings shall be guided by a written agenda in the 

order of the following items:  
 

A. Pledge of Allegiance 
B. Approval of Agenda   
C. Consent Agenda 

1. Signatures – Treasurer’s Warrants, etc. 
2. Secretary’s Report Minutes 
3. Communications 
4. Reports Committee minutes 

D. Public Comments 
E. Policy Agenda 

1. News, Presentations & Awards 
2. Public Hearings 
3. Nominations-Appointments – Elections 
4. Old Unfinished Business 
5. New Business 

F. Committee Reports 
G. Manager’s Report 
H. Councilor Comments 



HAMPDEN TOWN COUNCIL RULES OF PROCEDURE 
 
 

3 
 

I. Adjournment 
 

5. Any subject may be placed on the agenda for a council meeting by a 
councilor, the town manager or at the request of any citizen. Any subject 
presented by a citizen must be received at the town office at least 5 
calendar days prior to the council meeting. The agenda shall be prepared 
and posted in the town office at least one business day prior to a 
scheduled council meeting. The name of the Council member or other 
person, persons, or group requesting an item on the agenda will be 
indicated on the agenda with the item. 
 

2. An item on the agenda may be taken up out of order by unanimous 
consent.  a majority of those present. 
 

3. A non-agenda item may be added to the agenda on the night of the 
meeting by unanimous consent of all Councilors present. 
  

4. Any item on the consent agenda can be set aside for discussion at the 
request of any Councilor, prior to a motion on the remainder of the 
consent agenda. 
 

5. Special Town Council meetings, as defined under Article 4, shall be 
guided by a written agenda in the order of the following items:  
 
     a. Call to Order 
     b. Topic(s) of the Meeting 
     c.  Adjourn 

 
ARTICLE 4 Meetings and Decorum 
 
1. The first and third Mondays of each month are designated as ‘regular’ 

Council meetings with the provision that a unanimous vote of the 
Councilors present would cancel or reschedule a meeting. Whenever a 
regular meeting falls on a legal holiday, such meeting will take place the 
following day except upon unanimous vote of the Councilors present to 
cancel or reschedule the meeting.  
 

2. Special meetings of the Town Council may be scheduled for other dates 
for special purposes. The agendas for such meetings shall be posted at 
the Post Office, Town Office, Town Sign Board, and on the Town website, 
no less than 72 hours in advance of the meeting (unless an emergency 
meeting is needed for the purpose of dealing with an unanticipated Town 
emergency, in which case posting shall be to all normal posting locations 
and via email to local print media as soon as it is identified that a meeting 
will be held). 

 



HAMPDEN TOWN COUNCIL RULES OF PROCEDURE 
 
 

4 
 

3. As a matter of courtesy, conduct for all Council and Committee meetings 
shall be as follows: 
 
i. Cell phones shall be silenced during Council & Committee meetings by 

Town Councilors, staff, and the public. 
ii. Councilors and staff shall refrain from texting or emailing during all 

Council or Committee meetings. 
iii. Cell phone use, texting, and email may be done during breaks in 

regular or special Council meetings or committee meetings. 
 

4. In all cases where the parliamentary proceedings are not determined by 
the foregoing rules and orders, “Roberts Rules of Order” shall be taken as 
authority to decide the course of proceedings 

 
5. When any Councilor is about to speak, they shall respectfully address the 

Mayor, confine themselves to the question under debate, and avoid 
personalities. No member speaking shall be interrupted by another but by 
a call to order, or to correct a mistake. **discussion ended here on 9/17 
 

6. When any Councilor speaks to staff, consultants, or to members of the 
public who are in attendance, they shall do so in a respectful and 
professional manner, shall confine themselves to the question under 
debate, and avoid conduct unbecoming an elected representative of the 
Town.  
 

7. Every member present, when a question is put, shall give their vote, 
unless the Council, for special reasons, shall excuse them.  Application to 
be recused must be made before debate on the issue and the decision on 
the application shall be made by a majority vote of the council without 
debate. **discussion ended here on 12/3 with no clear consensus of this 
item number 
 

8. The rules cannot be dispensed with or suspended if one or more members 
of the council shall object. No rule or order shall be amended or repealed 
without notice, in writing, being given at the preceding meeting. 
 

9. Council Meetings shall not extend beyond 10 p.m. without an affirmative 
vote of the Town Council. 
 

10. The Councilor Comment section of the agenda is reserved for any Council 
member to discuss matters not previously mentioned on the agenda. No 
official Council action can be taken during this portion of the meeting. 
 
 

ARTICLE 5 Motions 
 



HAMPDEN TOWN COUNCIL RULES OF PROCEDURE 
 
 

5 
 

1. The following motions do not require a second: 
 

a. Nominations 
b. Point of information 
c. Point of order 
d. Questions of privilege 
e. Leave to withdraw a motion 

     
2. The following motions are non-debatable: 

 
a. Adjourn 
b. Lay on the table 
c. Filling in the blank 
d. Point of information 
e. Point of order 
f. Question of privilege 
g. Leave to withdraw a motion 

 
 

3. When a question is under debate, the only motions that the Mayor shall 
entertain will be a motion to adjourn, or a motion to lay on the table the 
previous question, or to postpone the previous question to a date certain, 
or to refer the previous question to a committee or some administrative 
official or to amend, or a motion to postpone the previous question 
indefinitely. Motions shall have precedence in order in which they are 
introduced.  
 

4. When a vote is passed, it shall be in order for any member who voted in 
the majority, or in the negative on a tie vote, to move a reconsideration 
thereof at the same, or the next stated meeting, but not afterwards; and 
when a motion of reconsideration is decided, that vote shall not be 
reconsidered. 

 
 
ARTICLE 6 Public Participation 
 

1. Any person wishing to address the Town Council will be given the 
opportunity to do so in accordance with the following procedure: 
 

a. Persons wishing to address the Council on an item which appears 
on the agenda shall wait until the Mayor announces the 
consideration of such item, at which time they may address the 
Council on that particular item.  There shall be a five-minute limit on 
such comments per person, per item. In the event that a large 
number of persons wish to speak on an issue, this limit may be 
changed to ensure that all who wish to speak have the opportunity 



HAMPDEN TOWN COUNCIL RULES OF PROCEDURE 
 
 

6 
 

to do so. Once public comment on an item has closed and a motion 
and second has been made by members of the Town Council, 
further public comment is only allowed if approved by a unanimous 
vote of the Town Council. 

b. Any person wishing to address the Council on an item not 
appearing on the agenda shall be allowed to do so only in that 
section of the agenda referred to as “Public Comments”. There 
shall be a five-minute limit on such comments per person per 
subject raised. Items heard during Public Comment may be 
agendaed for a subsequent meeting or referred to a Committee or 
staff member for discussion/action. No votes may be taken by the 
Council on a subject raised during Public Comment without a vote 
by the Council to set aside the rules and add it to the regular 
agenda for consideration. 

c. Any person wishing to address the Council shall signify their desire 
by raising their hand and, when recognized by the Mayor, such 
person shall thereupon request permission to address the Council, 
giving their name and the name of the road on which they live and 
then designating the subject matter on which they desire to address 
the Council. 

d. The general public shall be allowed to comment on subjects at 
Special meetings in the same manner as for Regular Council 
meetings. There shall be no general Public Comment section for 
items not contained on the agenda for Special Council meetings 
 

ARTICLE 7 Council Committees 
 

1. At the commencement of the Calendar year, or as soon thereafter as 
possible, there shall be chosen the following Committees, each 
Committee to consist of three (3) or four (4) members of the Council as 
the Mayor may designate, or, upon a motion, the Council may ballot.  
 
a. Finance & Administration – The purpose of this Committee shall be to 

review all items related to their fiscal impact on the Town as well as all 
matters that pertain to items of administrative procedures. This 
committee will also have the responsibility for the review and 
signature of all payment warrants.  

b. Services Committee – The purpose of this Committee shall be to 
review all matters related to services provided by the Town related to 
recreation, parks, trails, the library, the pool, communications and 
other items related to non-emergency or public works services 
provided in the community.  

c. Infrastructure – The purpose of this Committee shall be to review all 
matters pertaining to public infrastructure including buildings, roads, 
and all town capital equipment. 



HAMPDEN TOWN COUNCIL RULES OF PROCEDURE 
 
 

7 
 

d. Planning & Development – The purpose of this Committee shall be to 
review all matters related to all ordinances of the Town and all 
proposals for economic & community development. 

 
2. Committee procedure shall be governed as follows: 

 
a. All Committees will be required to post an agenda at least 48 hours 

prior to the meeting  
b. It shall be the responsibility of the Committee Chair to discuss the 

development of the meeting agenda with the assigned staff person at 
least 24 hours before the meeting is required to be posted.  

c. The assigned staff member shall prepare and post the agenda. 
d. Draft minutes of each meeting will be prepared by the staff member 

supporting the committee within a reasonable time.  
e. Committee meeting minutes shall be posted on the Town website 

following their approval by the Committee. 
f. Non-committee Council members attending a Committee meeting will 

have voting rights if they have been present for the entire discussion of 
an issue, providing that at least two of the three appointed members of 
the committee are present. Voting rights shall encompass the ability to 
make a motion or to second any motion.  

g. Two appointed members of the Committee shall constitute a quorum. 
h. The Mayor shall serve as a member of all Committees for quorum 

purposes.  
i. The Mayor may appoint members of the Council and/or citizens of the 

Town to special committees as authorized by the Council. 
 

ARTICLE 8 Sanctions  
 

1. Council members who intentionally and repeatedly do not follow council 
rules, or whose conduct is that unbecoming an elected official, may be 
reprimanded or formally censured by the Council. Serious infractions of 
Council Rules could lead to other sanctions as deemed appropriate by the 
Town Council.  

 
This policy replaces the Council Rules last updated September 19, 2016. 

 
 
Adopted by Town Council:  May 21, 2012 
 
Amended: January 21, 2014 
  April 7, 2014 
  May 19, 2014 
  February 1, 2016 
  September 19, 2016 
  Date         2018 



Article Part Dennis Steve Eric Jim Paula

1. At the commencement of the Calendar year, and pursuant to 
Section 204 of the Town Charter, the town’s attorney shall 
preside over the town council’s election of one of its members 
as Mayor for the ensuing year. The Mayor shall preside over all 
meetings of the Council at which he or she is present.

2. After the election of the Mayor, he or she shall preside over 
the election of Deputy Mayor. The Deputy Mayor shall serve as 
the presiding officer at any meeting at which the Mayor is 
absent and shall assume all duties of the Mayor until the Mayor 
is present. In the absence of the Deputy Mayor, the Mayor shall 
appoint, in advance, another Councilor to chair the meeting.

3. The Mayor shall recognize any Councilor who wishes to speak, 
shall state all motions that are before the assembly, rule on 
questions of parliamentary procedure and carry out all duties 
incumbent upon him under the laws of the State, the Town 
Charter, Town Ordinances, and the Rules of Procedure.

By the time an item reaches 
council we should have the 
lenghthy discussions and 
arguments completed.  I 
support having a motion prior 
to opening discussions for 
reasons Eric has pointed out.

I believe in the normal course 
of the agenda there should be 
no discussion without a 
motion on the floor. In the 
absence of a motion it is 
evident the Mayor/chair has 
less control over the course 
and tenure of the discussion 
and may effectively impeded 
the use of Article 5, part 1 and 
2.

I don't know that  we should 
have standing committees that 
in essence impede 
transparancy. All debate and 
discussion takes place at 
committee level which is 
circumventing debate at a 
council meeting; which is the 
meeting that is televised. 

4. The Mayor shall take the chair at the appointed time for the 
meeting, call the members to order, and proceed with the order 
of business.

 I support eliminating 
unnecessary language as this.

Is this really needed?
Standard 

ARTICLE 1 - Mayor/Deputy Mayor

Council Rules and Procedures Discussion Template (1) 1



Article Part Dennis Steve Eric Jim Paula

1. The Town Council shall only act by ordinance, order, or 
resolve. All ordinances, orders, and resolves shall be confined to 
one subject, which shall be clearly expressed in the title. All 
orders and resolves shall be dated, numbered, and signed by the 
Town Clerk and the Town Councilors will receive a copy. No 
action of the Council shall be binding or valid unless adopted by 
the majority vote of those present.

2. In all motions of command, the form of expression shall be 
‘ordered’ and in all motions concerning principles, facts, or 
purposes, the form shall be ‘resolved’.

Might need some definitions 
or examples.

Examples may prove useful.

This language is taken from 
Charter.  According to my 
records management class, 
Ordinances carry the most 
weight as they are akin to law; 
albeit on a local level. Orders 
and resolves (resolutions) are 
very similar, a resolution is 
"the official adopted 
expression of the will of a 
legislative body" which is every 
time Council votes and which 
is why I started attaching 
resolution numbers to each 
vote. This validates it and is a 
method of record keeping. 
Resolutions/resolves are also 
used for formal expression of 
support of a cause or initiative. 
Orders are typically used as a 
method by which the 
legislative body directs the 
agency....such as ordering the 
issuing of license plates.

3. Town Councilors shall, pursuant to 1 MRSA § 412, participate in 
Freedom of Access Act training through the Maine Municipal 
Association’s Elected Officials Course within 120 days of being sworn 
in as a Town Councilor. Documentation of that training shall be filed 
with the Town Clerk.

Needs clarification, there is 
online versions of the class 
available.

The FOAA training is required 
by statute, and yes, on-line. 
The recommendation is to 
take the full day course 
through MMA which deals 
with other areas elected 
officials should be made aware 
of

4. A New Councilor orientation packet shall be provided to all 
Councilors at the time they are sworn in.

Should there be a place to sign 
off?

This is a good idea. This is a good idea. 

ARTICLE 2 - Council

Council Rules and Procedures Discussion Template (1) 2



Article Part Dennis Steve Eric Jim Paula

2. Any subject may be placed on the agenda for a council 
meeting by a councilor, the town manager or at the request of 
any citizen. Any subject presented by a citizen must be received 
at the town office at least 5 calendar days prior to the council 
meeting. The agenda shall be prepared and posted in the town 
office at least one business day prior to a scheduled council 
meeting. The name of the Council member or other person, 
persons, or group requesting an item on the agenda will be 
indicated on the agenda with the item. An item on the agenda 
may be taken up out of order by unanimous consent a majority 
of those present.

Needs some group discussion.

 p  p  
problematic situations….. 
"unanimous consent a 
majority"……is it unanimous or 
is it a simple majority?  As 
written it is left open for 
individual interpretation which 
we are trying to avoid.  I 
recently have supported our 
mayor and finance chair in 
their refusal to add items 
requested by individual 
councilors BUT I did so with 
resevations due to the 
appearance of being non-
transparent.  These situations 

"unanimous consent of a 
majority of those present" 
makes no sense.  This even 
makes acting on an issue at 
first-reading more 
problematic.  This would imply 
that Councilor McAvoy was 
correct in his request for a F&A 
agenda item w/o supporting 
documentation/arguement 
(which I personally believe 
should be required to avoid 
abuse of the agenda process)

Part of this discussion 
should be timing  of 
the request relative to 
placement of it on the 
agenda and the 
inclusion of supporting 
information in the 
packets

3. A non-agenda item may be added to the agenda on the night of the 
meeting by unanimous consent of all Councilors present.

I have no idea what a non-
agenda item even is.

Poor wording. Anything not 
already on agenda is a non-
agenda item

4. Any item on the consent agenda can be set aside for discussion at 
the request of any Councilor, prior to a motion on the remainder of 
the consent agenda.

Who will be writing the 
committee reports? Do these 
take the place of minutes? If 
we are going continue with 
standing committees, we need 
to be cautious about adding 
extra reporting requirements 
to staff. Why would we not 
look at simplifying our 
processes rather than creating 
or continuing with all these 
layers? It seems like most 
business should be able to be 
conducted at a Council 
meeting and that Committees 
could be used for special 
projects, or things that are 
lengthy and bog down, like the 
council rules did, which 
resulted in a sub committee.....

E.5 No new business will be 
acted on at its first reading 
except by a unanimous vote fo 
councilors present.  F. 
Committee reports will now 
include requested actions out 
of committee (which is not its 
first reading), does not require 
a second, and will be of the 
form: recommend adoption, 
referral, rejection or no action 
taken.

ARTICLE 3 – Agenda

1. The Town Council meetings shall be guided by a 
written agenda in the order of the following items: 

A. Pledge of Allegiance 
B. Approval of Agenda 
C. Consent Agenda 

1. Signatures – Treasurer’s Warrants, etc. 
2. Secretary’s Report Minutes 
3. Communications 
4. Reports Committee Minutes 

D. Public Comments 
E. Policy Agenda 

1. News, Presentations & Awards 
2. Public Hearings 
3. Nominations-Appointments – Elections 
4. Old Unfinished Business 
5. New Business 

F. Committee Reports 
G. Manager’s Report 
H. Councilor Comments 

 I. Adjournment 

5. Special Town Council meetings, as defined under 
Article 4, shall be guided by a written agenda in the order 
of the following items: 

 A. Call to Order 
 B. Topic(s) of the Meeting 
 C. Adjourn 

Council Rules and Procedures Discussion Template (1) 3



Article Part Dennis Steve Eric Jim Paula

1. The first and third Mondays of each month are designated as 
‘regular’ Council meetings with the provision that a unanimous vote 
of the Councilors present would cancel or reschedule a meeting. 
Whenever a regular meeting falls on a legal holiday, such meeting will 
take place the following day except upon unanimous vote of the 
Councilors present to cancel or reschedule the meeting.

A suggestion has been made to 
designate the first meeting of 
the month for review and 
discussion and hold off on 
action until the second 
meeting.

This argues against the first-
reading limitation since 
business would occur once a 
month during the second 
meeting.

 It needs to be weighed against 
whether or not to vote on an 
item at the meeting of its 
introduction. I don't favor just 
1 'business' council meeting. In 
my opinion, more  work needs 
to be done at Council level and 
not committee level and both 
council mtgs would be 
necessary for that

2. Special meetings of the Town Council may be scheduled for other 
dates for special purposes. The agendas for such meetings shall be 
posted at the Post Office, Town Office, Town Sign Board, and on the 
Town website, no less than 72 hours in advance of the meeting 
(unless an emergency meeting is needed for the purpose of dealing 
with an unanticipated Town emergency, in which case posting shall be 
to all normal posting locations and via email to local print media as 
soon as it is identified that a meeting will be held).

Should we consider any more 
current means to give notice?

Please do not change the 
directive to post at the post 
office, Hannaford and town 
office bulletin board in 
addition to the website. This is 
the statewide recognized 
method of notice (paper form), 
the internet/web site is value 
added and modern. 

4. In all cases where the parliamentary proceedings are not 
determined by the foregoing rules and orders, “Roberts Rules of 
Order” shall be taken as authority to decide the course of 
proceedings.

5. When any Councilor is about to speak, they shall respectfully 
address the Mayor, confine themselves to the question under debate, 
and avoid personalities. No member speaking shall be interrupted by 
another but by a call to order, or to correct a mistake. **discussion 
ended here on 9/17 Delete

In the absence of a motion to 
begin debate, this part has less 
meaning and may not be 
enforcable

I believe that all questions 
should go through the chair, 
which in our case is the mayor. 
Just like in town meetings, 
questions go through the 
moderator. This is standard 
municipal procedure. I would 

ARTICLE 4 - Meetings and Decorum

3. As a matter of courtesy, conduct for all Council and 
Committee meetings shall be as follows: 

i. Cell phones shall be silenced during Council & 
Committee meetings by Town Councilors, staff, 
and the public. 
ii. Councilors and staff shall refrain from texting or 
emailing during all Council or Committee 
meetings. 
iii. Cell phone use, texting, and email may be done 
during breaks in regular or special Council 
meetings or committee meetings. 

Council Rules and Procedures Discussion Template (1) 4



Article Part Dennis Steve Eric Jim Paula

6. When any Councilor speaks to staff, consultants, or to members of 
the public who are in attendance, they shall do so in a respectful and 
professional manner, shall confine themselves to the question under 
debate, and avoid conduct unbecoming an elected representative of 
the Town.

We need to discuss how to 
handle infractions in this 
regard.  The rules have no bite 
so to speak.

If the council doesn't want to 
formally censure a member, 
then the chair should gavel the 
meeting into recess until 
cooler heads prevail.

7. Every member present, when a question is put, shall give their vote, 
unless the Council, for special reasons, shall excuse them. Application 
to be recused must be made before debate on the issue and the 
decision on the application shall be made by a majority vote of the 
council without debate. **discussion ended here on 12/3 with no 
clear consensus of this item number

Let's make a recommendation, 
re: voting and abstaining.

Issues here. The rules are not 
applied consistently and we 
need to allow Councilors to 
abstain.  This is a slippery slope 
when a councilor cannot 
excuse themselves.  It is 
currently loosely applied with 
some occurances allowing 
councilors to recuse with a 
majority and at other times 
councilors are forced to vote 
with only a simple majority 
vote.  I am very concerned 
with the potential legal issues 
when we force councilors to 
vote yea or nea and no option 
for recusing oneself.

When a vote is requested, I 
maintain it should be: all in 
favor, all opposed, those 
present (but not voting).  If we 
correctly define majority (as 
the 'majority of those voting', 
then a vote of present should 
not impact the outcome. A 
council member should not be 
required to vote and should 
not be required to ask council 
to vote present. Our of 
courtesy, if they perceive a 
conflict of interest which 
would result in a vote present, 
the council member should 
also not be involved in the 
debate.  Clearly as the result of 
a debate, a council member 
could decide to vote present as 
they clearly have determined 
they cannot vote for/against.

I have never been comfortable 
with the idea that a Councilor 
has to be granted the right of 
recusal by vote of the 
remaining Councilors, but I 
also think that recusal and 
abstention need to be further 
defined. Every voting member 
who believes that there is a 
potential conflict should have 
the right, (and this is 
embedded in statute) to 
recuse themselves from 
discussion and vote. When this 
happens, they should leave the 
dais and take a seat in the 
audience. This is a protection 
for the member as well as for 
the municipality in some cases. 
An abstention is the 
withholding of a vote; some 
say it is considered a vote 
because in essence the person 
abstaining is acquiescing to the 
majority.

8. The rules cannot be dispensed with or suspended if one or more 
members of the council shall object. No rule or order shall be 
amended or repealed without notice, in writing, being given at the 
preceding meeting.
9. Council Meetings shall not extend beyond 10 p.m. without an 
affirmative vote of the Town Council.
10.The Councilor Comment section of the agenda is reserved for any 
Council member to discuss matters not previously mentioned on the 
agenda. No official Council action can be taken during this portion of 
the meeting.

     

Council Rules and Procedures Discussion Template (1) 5



Article Part Dennis Steve Eric Jim Paula

3. When a question is under debate, the only motions that the Mayor 
shall entertain will be a motion to adjourn, or a motion to lay on the 
table the previous question, or to postpone the previous question to a 
date certain, or to refer the previous question to a committee or some 
administrative official or to amend, or a motion to postpone the 
previous question indefinitely. Motions shall have precedence in 
order in which they are introduced

4. When a vote is passed, it shall be in order for any member who 
voted in the majority, or in the negative on a tie vote, to move a 
reconsideration thereof at the same, or the next stated meeting, but 
not afterwards; and when a motion of reconsideration is decided, that 
vote shall not be reconsidered.

This is not followed.   Topics 
continue to be brought back 
even after affirmative actions.  
Maybe we need more 
clarification?  Certainly needs 
to be discussed as it is 
hindering the progress of the 

Without a motion to begin 
debate, virtually all of these 
next three sections have little 
impact on the decorum of our 
meetings.

Do you want a motion to begin 
debate on each question?

ARTICLE 5 - Motions

For all fo Article 5, should we 
consider further explanations 
or examples?

1. The following motions do not require a second: 
a. Nominations 
b. Point of information 
c. Point of order 
d. Questions of privilege 
e. Leave to withdraw a motion 

2. The following motions are non-debatable: 
a. Adjourn 
b. Lay on the table 
c. Filling in the blank 
d. Point of information 
e. Point of order 
f. Question of privilege 
g. Leave to withdraw a motion 

           
          

  
  

          
          

         
    

         
          

           
            

           
           
          
          

      
 

           
           
           

  
          

        
          

        
           
          

            
 

 
          

          
       

         
           

         
   

 
          

          

Council Rules and Procedures Discussion Template (1) 6



Article Part Dennis Steve Eric Jim Paula

ARTICLE 6 - Public Participation

1. Any person wishing to address the Town Council will be 
given the opportunity to do so in accordance with the 
following procedure: 
  
a. Persons wishing to address the Council on an item 
which appears on the agenda shall wait until the Mayor 
announces the consideration of such item, at which time 
they may address the 
Council on that particular item. There shall be a five-
minute limit on such comments per person, per item. In 
the event that a large number of persons wish to speak 
on an issue, this limit may be changed to ensure that all 
who wish to speak have the opportunity to do so. Once 
public comment on an item has closed and a motion and 
second has been made by members of the Town Council, 
further public comment is only allowed if approved by a 
unanimous vote of the Town Council. 
 
b. Any person wishing to address the Council on an item 
not appearing on the agenda shall be allowed to do so 
only in that section of the agenda referred to as “Public 
Comments”. There 
shall be a five-minute limit on such comments per person 
per subject raised. Items heard during Public Comment 
may be agendaed for a subsequent meeting or referred to 
a Committee or staff member for discussion/action. No 
votes may be taken by the Council on a subject raised 
during Public Comment without a vote by the Council to 
set aside the rules and add it to the regular agenda for 
consideration. 
 
c. Any person wishing to address the Council shall signify 
their desire by raising their hand and, when recognized by 
the Mayor, such person shall thereupon request 
permission to address the Council, giving their name and 
the name of the road on which they live and then 
designating the subject matter on which they desire to 
address the Council. 
 
d. The general public shall be allowed to comment on 
subjects at Special meetings in the same manner as for 

Council Rules and Procedures Discussion Template (1) 7



Article Part Dennis Steve Eric Jim Paula

If we choose to keep the 
committee structure, we 
should address the issue of all 
councilors atttending since this 
tends to eliminate debate of 
the full council on the issue.  
We need to trust our fellow 
coucil members serving on the 
committee to thoughtfully 
debate the issue and then 
make one of four appropriate 
recommendations for the full 
councils consideration (adopt, 
refer, reject, no action taken)

We need to put more debate 
and discussion at the Council 
level and away from 
committees since all members 
are going and voting at most 
committee meetings. And also, 
for the sake of transparency. 
True transparency. I agree with 
the vein of Eric saying there 
should be recommendations 
coming out of committee, but 
do we honestly need to discuss 
every standard situation at 
committee, just to get a 
referral for something that 
should be able to be discussed, 
debated and voted on at 
Council? Do you realize that 
almost every Finance & 
Administration meeting is a 
direct mirror of the Council 
meeting? Two virtually 
identical agendas, packets, and 
then minutes. It is redundant, 
and with all due respect, 
impedes staff time that could 
be on some other task 

    
    

      
     

      
     

    

     
      

     
      

      
   

     
     

We need to wrestle with this 
subject.

I strongly feel this should be a 
council ballot process rather 
than one councilor making the 
appointments.  Committees 
are outdated and the possible 
formation/restructure of 
committees is long overdue.  
Examples are Services maybe 
should be broken up with Pool 
and recreation in one 
committee and the town 
center development in 
another.  Infrastructure should 
be infrastructure and not 
talking about staffing.  We 
continue to mix what should 
be finance and 
adminstration(staffing) and 
real infrastructure topics.  Just 
my thoughts.....

ARTICLE 7 - Council Committees

1. At the commencement of the Calendar year, or as 
soon thereafter a possible, there shall be chosen the 
following Committees, each Committee to consist of 
three (3) or four (4) members of the Council as the 
Mayor may designate, or, upon a motion, the Council 
may ballot. 

a. Finance & Administration – The purpose of this 
Committee shall be to review all items related to 
their fiscal impact on the Town as well as all 
matters that pertain to items of administrative 
procedures. This committee will also have the 
responsibility for the review and signature of all 
payment warrants. 
 
b. Services Committee – The purpose of this 
Committee shall be to review all matters related 
to services provided by the Town related to 
recreation, parks, trails, the library, the pool, 
communications and other items related to non-
emergency or public works services provided in 
the community. 
 
c. Infrastructure – The purpose of this Committee 
shall be to review all matters pertaining to public 
infrastructure including buildings, roads, and all 
town capital equipment. 
 
d. Planning & Development – The purpose of this 
Committee shall be to review all matters related 
to all ordinances of the Town and all proposals 
for economic & community development. 

2. Committee procedure shall be governed as follows: 
a. All Committees will be required to post an 
agenda at least 48 hours prior to the meeting 
b. It shall be the responsibility of the Committee 
Chair to discuss the development of the meeting 
agenda with the assigned staff person at least 24 
hours before the meeting is required to be 

 
        

   
        

       
     

       
        
  

      
       

        
          

       
       

         
       

    
          

    
         

         
    

Council Rules and Procedures Discussion Template (1) 8



Article Part Dennis Steve Eric Jim Paula

ARTICLE 8 - Sanctions

1. Council members who intentionally and repeatedly do not follow 
Council rules, or whose conduct is that unbecoming an elected 
official, may be reprimanded or formally censured by the Council. 
Serious infractions of Council Rules could lead to other sanctions as 
deemed appropriate by the Town Council.

As has been cited periodically, 
we really don't have a clear 
sanction(s), and I have asked 
Paula to identify sources we 
couild review.

Scrap it OR list the sanctions 
available being left as it is will 
continue to be ineffective at 
best.

I have researched statute as 
well as MMA publications and 
can find no specific language 
regarding sanctions. Recall of 
an elected official is only done 
through referendum, and only 
when the municipality has 
adopted a Recall Ordinance. 
The purpose of recall is to 
remove an elected official 
whom has been accused of a 
crime against the municipality. 
The question is, what 
constitutes a crime to which 
statute refers? (The statute is 
silent on specifics.) I am 
attaching a publication MMA 
puts out called Best Practices 
for Newly Elected Officials 
because the information is 
relevant to all elected officials 
and are good talking points for 
this exercise.

I don't understand Eric's 
thought about 'allowing their 
vote at the full council'. All 
Councilors  are always allowed 
to vote, unless recused for a 
conflict of some sort. Not 
based on a committee 
recommendation.

One of our currrent councilors 
would argue that 2,b is not 
appropriate.  I would eliminate 
2.f in favor of allowing their 
vote at the full council based 
on the committee's 
recommendation.

2b, definitely needs to be 
addressed in light of recent 
developments.

    

        
         

         
         

        
         

        
posted. 
c. The assigned staff member shall prepare and 
post the agenda. 
d. Draft minutes of each meeting will be 
prepared by the staff member supporting the 
committee within a reasonable time. 
e. Committee meeting minutes shall be posted 
on the Town website following their approval by 
the Committee. 
f. Non-committee Council members attending a 
Committee meeting will have voting rights if 
they have been present for the entire discussion 
of an issue, providing that at least two of the 
three appointed members of the committee are 
present. Voting rights shall encompass the ability 
to make a motion or to second any motion. 
g. Two appointed members of the Committee 
shall constitute a quorum. 
h. The Mayor shall serve as a member of all 
Committees for quorum purposes. 

i. The Mayor may appoint members of the Council 
and/or citizens of the Town to special committees as 
authorized by the Council 

Council Rules and Procedures Discussion Template (1) 9



Article Part Dennis Steve Eric Jim Paula

OTHER Minutes should be about what is done, not what is said.

Public hearings not with 
standing, I still believe our 
minutes are too detailed and 
should address the essence of 
the debate without reference 
to a council-member.

Except in the case of public 
hearing in which case you 
want to get as much dialogue 
as you can, especially from 
members of the public. I am 
assuming Eric means for 
business/action items because 
this also doesn't take into 
account councilor comments 
which are typically 
paraphrased. I also believe that 
there should be something 
that provides an intent or 'back 

Standard procedure to vote on the agenda at meeting's start.

A committee report should not 
be in the consent agenda but 
rather be part of regular 
business where motions out of 
committee can be brought 
forward (adoption, refer, 
rejection, no action taken) and 
by default they require no 
second.  Since this is not the 
first time the motion would 
have been discussed, it is truly 
not new business and can be 
normally acted on at the 
meeting it comes out of 
committee.

I still maintain that we need 
less committee work and more 
council work. 

Default should be to NOT vote on an item in the meeting in which it 
first appears.

I am not sure how we can 
represent our constituents if 
we don't have an opportunity 
to discuss a new business item 
with them. The problem is how 
the agenda is set up.  A 
committee report should 
include motions to act on, and 
as they come out of 
committee, they do not need a 
second and have already been 
debated at least once.  My 
proposal is that other than 
business out of committee 
(which should be to: 
recommend, refer, reject, or 
not action taken), a new 
business item should not be 
acted upon at the meeting 
where it is first read unless the 
rule is suspended by a 
unanimous vote of the 
councilors present.

We need to be really careful 
about this with regard to 
timing of projects, purchases, 
bids, etc. Government moves 
slowly as it is, I would not want 
to impede progress especially 
when an item has likely aready 
been through committee, if we 
keep that structure.

Council Rules and Procedures Discussion Template (1) 10
















































	ADPB778.tmp
	Sheet1


